THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2017-CP-23-03372
Appellate Case No. 2017-001747

Greenville Bistro, LLC, a South Carolina Limited Liability Company, d/b/a Buck's Racks & Ribs, and Frontage Road Associates, Inc., a South Carolina Corporation, Respondents,

v.

Greenville County, a Political Subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and Will Lewis, in his Official Capacity as Sheriff of Greenville County, Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

DEVLIN & PARKINSON, P.A.

John R. Devlin, Jr., S.C. Bar No. 1667
P.O. Box 10387
Greenville, SC 29603
(864) 242-4050

Preliminary Statement

This case has a long backstory, but this appeal presents a simple issue. Greenville County appeals an injunction against the enforcement of its ordinance governing the location of sexually oriented businesses (Ordinance No. 4869), which was entered without any suggestion that the ordinance is invalid. Plaintiff Greenville Bistro, LLC obtained a certificate of occupancy to operate a “restaurant,” but then began illegally operating a sexually oriented business and sued.

The trial court recognized that an injunction is a “drastic remedy” that should only be granted if the moving party carries its burden of demonstrating (1) irreparable harm, (2) likelihood of success on the merits, and (3) the absence of an adequate remedy at law. (Injunction Order at 3, R. p. 4) Plaintiffs demonstrated none of these three prerequisites.

As for irreparable harm, the trial court properly stated the law that the “[l]oss of First Amendment freedoms constitutes irreparable injury,” (*Id.* at 3, R. p. 4), but then concluded only that “the Plaintiffs would suffer irreparable harm *if* the subject ordinance abridges its constitutional freedom of expression.” (*Id.* (emphasis added)) No such finding was made. The trial court did not explain why free speech would be abridged by requiring Plaintiffs to obey a valid law.

The court held that “[t]he Plaintiff has met its burden with respect to” likelihood of success on the merits regarding Ordinance No. 4869, (*id.* at 5, R. p. 6), but gave no reason why this was so.

On inadequate remedy at law, the injunction order states only that “Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law because Defendants’ efforts to regulate Plaintiffs’ business threaten Plaintiffs with the loss of constitutionally protected rights and freedoms.” (*Id.*) Again, no reason is given why the Ordinance, which the Court did not rule unconstitutional, would occasion such a loss. Further, Plaintiff provided no argument as to why money damages, if awarded, would not sufficiently compensate it.

For these reasons and for those set forth below, Greenville County brings this appeal.

Statement of Issue on Appeal

When a plaintiff's prima facie case depends on a claim that a law is unconstitutional, the trial judge must consider the merits of that claim to determine its likelihood of success on the merits—a required showing for a temporary injunction. Absent such a showing, the plaintiff cannot prove irreparable harm or inadequate remedy at law, as there is neither harm in complying with a valid law, nor an injury to be remedied.

Here, the trial court enjoined enforcement of Ordinance No. 4869 without stating any reason why the Ordinance might be unconstitutional.

Statement of the Case

On May 23, 2017, Plaintiffs Frontage Road Associates, Inc. (“Landlord”) and Greenville Bistro, LLC d/b/a Bucks Racks & Ribs (“Tenant” or “Club”) filed a two-count complaint, with exhibits, in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. The complaint sought declaratory and injunctive relief against enforcement of Greenville County’s Sexually Oriented Business Code (“the Code”), which was established in 1995 by Ordinance No. 2673, and amended in 2017 by Ordinance No. 4869.

Count I claimed that enforcement of the Code violated a 2002 consent order between the County and the *prior* tenant (“Platinum Plus”) at 805 Frontage Road (the “Property”), on the theory that the Club is a “successor” of the prior tenant. (Compl. at 10, R. p. 21.) Count II claimed that the Code is unconstitutional on free speech grounds. (*Id.* at 14, R. p. 25)

On May 24, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Temporary Injunction based on both counts of its complaint. On June 7, the trial court noticed a hearing for June 16.

On June 14, the County filed its Answer and Counterclaim for Injunction, with exhibits.

On June 15, the County responded to Plaintiffs’ motion, and filed its own motion for temporary injunction. On June 16, 2017, the trial court held a hearing on Plaintiffs’ motion only.

On July 17, the trial court entered its Order for Partial Grant and Partial Denial of Temporary Injunctive Relief (the “Injunction Order” or the “Order”). The Injunction Order rejected the Club’s argument, under Count I of its complaint, that it is a “successor” to Platinum Plus. (Inj. Order at 2, R. p. 5.) Nevertheless, pursuant to Count II, the Injunction Order enjoined the County and its agents “from, in any way, enforcing the provisions of Ordinance No. 4869 as to the Plaintiffs at the subject location. . . .” (*Id.* at 6, R. p. 7.) The Injunction Order did not set forth any reason why Ordinance No. 4869 is invalid or unconstitutional.

On August 15, 2017, the County timely served its Notice of Appeal of the Injunction Order.

Statement of the Facts

A. Since 1995, Greenville County's Sexually Oriented Business Code (adopted via Ordinance No. 2673) has prohibited a sexually oriented business at the Property.

For more than 20 years, Greenville County has regulated the location of sexually oriented businesses. In 1995, the County Council adopted Ordinance No. 2673, which defined various types of sexually oriented businesses, including an "adult cabaret," which is "a nightclub, bar, restaurant, or similar commercial establishment which regularly features" the following:

- (a) Persons who appear in a state of nudity¹; or
- (b) Live performances which are characterized by the exposure of "specified anatomical areas"² or by "specified sexual activities"³; or
- (c) Films, motion pictures, video cassettes, slides, or other photographic reproductions which are characterized by the depiction or description of "specified sexual activities" or "specified anatomical areas."

(Ans. & CC Ex. 1 at 3, R. p. 182)

Section 12(b) of Ordinance No. 2673 prohibits operation of a sexually oriented business within 1500 feet of, *inter alia*, a residential district, a lot devoted primarily to residential use, a church, a child care facility, or a family oriented recreation facility. (*Id.* at 10-11, R. pp. 189-190)

At all relevant times, the Property at 805 Frontage Road has been within 1,500 feet of a

¹ "Nudity or a state of nudity means the appearance of a human bare buttock, anus, male genitals, female genitals, or female breast." (Ans. & CC Ex. 1 at 4.)

² "Specified anatomical areas means the male genitals in a state of sexual arousal or the vulva or more intimate parts of the female genitals." (*Id.* at 4.)

³ "Specified sexual activities means any of the following:

- (a) the fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttocks, anus, or female breasts;
- (b) Sex acts, normal or perverted, actual or simulated, including intercourse, oral copulation, or sodomy;
- (c) Masturbation, actual or simulated; or
- (d) Excretory functions as part of or in connection with any of the activities set forth in (a) through (c) above."

(*Id.* at 5.)

disqualifying land use. (See Ans. & CC Ex. 6, Feb. 24, 2017 Letter, at 1; Hrg. Ex. 19, ¶ 4, R. p. 229)

B. In 2000, the Supreme Court upheld the Code, and in 2003, affirmed a permanent injunction prohibiting Platinum (the prior tenant) from operating a sexually oriented business at the Property.

In 2000, the South Carolina Supreme Court invalidated Ordinance 2673's permitting requirements, but specifically upheld the location restrictions in Section 12. *Harkins v. Greenville County*, 340 S.C. 606, 621, 533 S.E.2d, 886, 893 (2000).

After the Supreme Court upheld the location restrictions, the County sued multiple sexually oriented businesses, including the prior tenants at the Property—Kenwood Enterprises, Inc., and Elephant, Inc. d/b/a Platinum Plus, and Kenwood Gaines (collectively, “Platinum Plus” or “Platinum”)—to enjoin them from operating sexually oriented businesses.

On January 19, 2001, the trial court held that “Platinum is located within 1,500 feet of a church, the boundary of residential districts, the property lines of lots devoted primarily to residential use, and a family oriented recreation facility.” (See Ans. & CC Ex. 2, January 2001 Injunction, at 7, R. p. 201) Accordingly, Platinum “knew that it could not operate a sexually oriented business at its current location. Indeed, following discussions with County officials regarding this fact, Platinum affirmatively represented to County officials that it would not be operating as an adult entertainment establishment.” (*Id.* at 7-8, R. pp. 201-202)

After rejecting all of Platinum's claims, the Court entered a permanent injunction:

Defendants are hereby enjoined from further operation of their businesses in violation of Ordinance 2673 and are ordered to comply with the Ordinance by ceasing operation of their businesses as sexually-oriented businesses at their current locations.

(*Id.* at 26, R. p. 220)

Platinum appealed the injunction, but the South Carolina Supreme Court, in pertinent part,

affirmed. *Greenville County v. Kenwood Enters., Inc.*, 353 S.C. 157, 577 S.E.2d 428 (2003).⁴

Thus, since January 19, 2001, a permanent injunction has been in place preventing the operation of a sexually oriented business at the Property located at 805 Frontage Road.

C. Platinum’s collateral suit, while it was unsuccessfully appealing the permanent injunction, did not negate that injunction.

In March 2001, Platinum (and others) sued Greenville County for declaratory relief about the meaning of “nudity” in Ordinance No. 2673—under which Platinum had been enjoined and which it was then challenging on appeal. In January 2002, the court entered a consent order in that case, which it then dismissed without prejudice. *Elephant Inc. v. Greenville County*, Greenville County Court of Common Pleas, No. 01-CP-23-1793. (Compl. Ex. A, 2002 Order, R. p. 133.)

The 2002 Consent Order bound those plaintiffs, including Platinum, all of whom agreed that they would *not* “engage in activities that if conducted, would constitute their business as a ‘sexually oriented business’ as that term is defined in Greenville County Ordinance 2673.” (*Id.* at 2, R. p. 134) Platinum and the other plaintiffs recognized that “[a]t their present locations, Plaintiffs’ businesses are in violation of the locational requirements set forth in Section 12 of Ordinance 2673 if their businesses are found to be ‘sexually oriented businesses.’” (*Id.* R. p. 134)

The 2002 Consent Order set forth an understanding as to the meaning of the term “state of nudity,” and also specifically prohibited any “specified sexual activities” or display of “specified anatomical areas,” as those terms are defined in Ordinance No. 2673, on the premises of Platinum and the other clubs involved in that case. (*Id.* at 3, R. p. 135)

The prohibitions in the 2002 Order also bound those plaintiffs’ “successors and assigns,” which were delineated as persons and entities to whom the plaintiffs “transfer their interest in their

⁴ One portion of the *Kenwood Enterprises* decision that is not relevant here—involving the rule for stating a takings claim—was overruled by *Byrd v. City of Hartsville*, 365 S.C. 650 (2005).

businesses.” Specifically, “Plaintiffs agree that if they transfer their interest in their businesses, they will inform their successors and assigns of the agreements set forth in this order and that this order shall be binding upon Plaintiffs’ successors and assigns.” (*Id.*, R. p. 135)

The 2002 Order also specified that violations of the order “shall be punishable as contempt of Court and/or the County may pursue any other relief provided by law.” (*Id.* at 4, R. p. 136)

Significantly, the order did not state that it was modifying the permanent injunction—entered by a different judge in a separate case—prohibiting the operation of a sexually oriented business at the Property. Nor did (or could) the 2002 Order purport to limit the Greenville County Council from passing legislation or adopting amendments to the Code.

D. In 2015, the trial court closed Platinum for six months as a public nuisance, and in 2016, the court imposed a second six-month closure as well as contempt sanctions.

In April 2015, the Greenville County Solicitor brought an action against Platinum-related entities and persons, including Frontage Road Associates, Inc., Elephant, Inc., and Ken Gaines, alleging that the Property was being operated as a public nuisance. In June 2015, the court entered a consent order, wherein Elephant, Inc. and Gaines stipulated that the Solicitor possessed present sufficient evidence for the court to “find that Platinum Plus Greenville constituted a public nuisance within the meaning of the Nuisance Statute.” (Compl. Ex. B, 2015 Consent Order, at 3, R. p. 139). The 2015 Consent Order required Platinum to shut down for 180 days and, thereafter, to comply with extensive monitoring requirements and the 2002 Order.

After the shut-down period, Platinum reopened, but did not change its ways. On April 27, 2016, the Solicitor filed a Verified Petition seeking contempt findings against Elephant, Inc. and Ken Gaines for violating the 2015 Order. On July 27, 2016, the trial court found that Elephant, Inc. and Gaines were operating Platinum Plus in violation of the 2015 Order, and entered criminal and civil contempt sanctions against them, including a \$100,000 fine payable to the Clerk of Court,

extension of the monitoring requirements, and an additional 180-day closure. (Compl., Ex. C,⁵ 2016 Order, at 4-5 (factual findings, R. p. 155), 13-16 (contempt sanctions, R. pp. 163-166).)

E. Platinum abandoned the closed Property; Frontage Road and Greenville Bistro sought access to it by disavowing any relation to Platinum-related entities and people.

After the trial court entered the 2016 Order, Platinum appealed it but otherwise abandoned the Property. (Ans. & CC Ex. 5, at 2, R. p. 226.) Thereafter, Frontage Road Associates, the owner of the Property, filed a motion to have the Property at 805 Frontage Road released from all orders relating to Platinum (i.e., Elephant, Inc. and Ken Gaines). (*Id.* at 3, R. p. 227) Frontage Road also submitted an affidavit from Jason C. Mohny, the principal of Greenville Bistro, LLC, averring that “neither Ken Gaines, Inc., Elephant, Inc., nor Platinum Plus has any connection with Greenville Bistro, LLC,” which entity is “completely separate” from them. (Ans. & CC Ex. 3, at ¶¶ 1, 5, R. p. 221.)

Based on this representation, on February 10, 2017, the trial court released the Property, finding that “the former tenants to whom the Court’s previous Orders were directed have now vacated the premises,” and that “the Court is without authority to continue or impose the previously ordered ongoing requirements, which were directed personally to Gaines and Elephant, Inc., on a new tenant.” (Ans. & CC, Ex. 5, Feb. 2017 Order, at 4, R. p. 228)

The February 2017 Order issued a strong warning against operating a sexually oriented business at the site:

However, as noted on the record during the hearing on January 26, 2017, in the event evidence later establishes a connection between these parties, the State may immediately move to have all requirements reinstated. Further, and again as noted on the record at the January 26, 2017 hearing, *in the event that Greenville Bistro, or any other adult entertainment venue, commences operating at the location, full and complete compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, etc. is expected and failure to do so will likely result in further orders, including sanctions against the entities, individual owners and responsible parties.*”

⁵ The July 27, 2016 Order is unmarked, but appears between Exhibits B and D of the Complaint.

(*Id.* at 4 (emphasis added) R. p. 228)

F. In February 2017, Greenville County passed an amendment to the Code (Ordinance No. 4869).

On February 21, 2017, the County Council passed, on first reading,⁶ Ordinance No. 4869 to update its Sexually Oriented Business Code. (Compl. Ex. G at 2, R. p. 177; Compl. at 11, ¶ 61, R. p. 22) Consistent with several recent cases, Ordinance No. 4869 reaffirmed the Council’s focus on mitigating the harmful secondary effects of sexually oriented businesses, and added the phrase “or in a state of semi-nudity” to the definition of “adult cabaret.” Ordinance No. 4869. (Compl. Ex. G at 2, R. p. 177) The phrase is defined as follows:

Semi-nude or a state of semi-nudity means the showing of the female breast below a horizontal line across the top of the areola and extending across the width of the breast at that point, or the showing of the male or female buttocks. This definition shall include the lower portion of the human female breast, but shall not include any portion of the cleavage of the human female breasts exhibited by a bikini, dress, blouse, shirt, leotard, or similar wearing apparel provided the areola is not exposed in whole or in part.

(*Id.*)

G. The County warned Greenville Bistro about the longstanding prohibition on operating a sexually oriented business at the Property.

On February 24, 2017, the County Attorney wrote Greenville Bistro’s principal, Jason Mohney, to reiterate that the Sexually Oriented Business Code (a.k.a. Adult Entertainment Ordinance), which consists of “Ordinance Nos. 2673 and 4869,” prohibit a sexually oriented business at the Property. (Ans. & CC Ex. 6, Feb. 24, 2017 Letter, at 1, R. p. 229).

The letter explained:

The Adult Entertainment Ordinance includes several provisions that directly impact the 805 Frontage Road property. The setback provisions in the Adult Entertainment Ordinance require a sexually oriented business (which includes any establishment that features persons who appear in a state of nudity or semi-nudity) to be 1,500 from several

⁶ Ordinance No. 4869 was adopted on third and final reading on April 26, 2017. *See Sherman v. Reavis*, 273 S.C. 542, 257 S.E.2d 735 (S.C. 1986) (pending ordinance binding from the time it is first noticed for public hearing).

types of properties and land uses, including the boundary of a residential zoning district. Today, there are two residential boundaries that are less than 1,500 feet from the building at 805 Frontage Road. One is the Roper Mountain Apartments, which is zoned RM-2 (a residentially zoned district); and the other is Bradford Place, which is a single-family residential subdivision, zoned R-M20 (a residentially zoned district). These two properties, and potentially others, will prohibit the operation of a sexually oriented business at 805 Frontage Road.

(*Id.*)

H. In March 2017, Greenville Bistro obtained a Certificate of Occupancy to operate a “restaurant,” but then instead opened a sexually oriented business and was ticketed.

On March 27, 2017, Greenville Bistro received a Certificate of Occupancy to operate as a “restaurant” called Buck’s Racks & Ribs. (Compl. Ex. F, R. p. 175)

Nevertheless, an inspection on May 11, 2017, revealed that Greenville Bistro was operating a sexually oriented business, specifically an “adult cabaret.” (Compl. Ex. H, May 11, 2017 Tickets, R. p. 179) The definition of “adult cabaret” was established in Ordinance No. 2673, and amended by Ordinance No. 4869, to read as follows:

Adult cabaret means a nightclub, bar, restaurant, or similar commercial establishment which regularly features:

- (a) Persons who appear in a state of nudity, or in a state of semi-nudity; or
- (b) Live performances which are characterized by the exposure of “specified anatomical areas” or by “specified sexual activities”; or
- (c) Films, motion pictures, video cassettes, slides, or other photographic reproductions which are characterized by the depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or “specified anatomical areas.”

Greenville Bistro operates as an adult cabaret because it regularly features persons who appear in a state of semi-nudity and live performances characterized by an emphasis on specified sexual activities. (Hrg. Ex. 14, Redman Aff. ¶ 5, R. p. 233 (“The dancer’s breasts were exposed, except that pasties covered her nipples and areolas. The dancer also wore a type of bikini bottom that exposed her buttocks.”); *id.* at ¶ 6, R. p. 233 (“On that visit to Buck’s, I saw several other women who were wearing bottoms that exposed their buttocks.”); *id.* at ¶¶ 7-9, R. p. 233 (noting

that on a May 24, 2017 return visit, he saw a woman exposing the majority of her buttocks on the large stage, and that he “saw two additional female dancers at Buck’s who were wearing attire that exposed their buttocks,” but “no menus or advertising for food”); Hrg. Ex. 15, Hunnicutt Aff., ¶¶ 5-9, R. p. 234 (observing exposed female breasts and buttocks, sexual movements on same dates.)

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