THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2017-CP-23-03372
Appellate Case No. 2017-001747

RECEIVED
FEB 12 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Greenville Bistro, LLC, a South Carolina Limited Liability Company, d/b/a Buck's Racks & Ribs,
and Frontage Road Associates, Inc., a South Carolina Corporation,..... Respondents,

v.

Greenville County, a Political Subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and Will Lewis, in his
Official Capacity as Sheriff of Greenville County,..... Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

O. W. Bannister
SC Bar No. 506; Fed. ID No. 1184
Luke A. Burke

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Common Pleas did not abuse its discretion in entering the Partial Temporary Injunction in July, 2017. The Court of Common Pleas's July, 2017 Order is well reasoned, factually accurate and supported, and legally sufficient and should be sustained.

The action for injunctive relief is an action in equity which asserted that Greenville County acted inequitably by entering into a Consent Order permitting a "similar business" to operate at the subject location and then vitiating that Consent Order by passing Ordinance 4869 which the County now claims precludes the operation of the business to which it consented 12 days earlier.

Greenville County's Initial Brief focuses on an alleged presumption of constitutionality which it claims attaches to the ordinances at issue. However, the Court of Common Pleas is exercising concurrent jurisdiction with the United States District Court and is required to apply **Federal** constitutional law to Respondents' civil rights claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983. Under Federal law, the ordinances at issue are **presumptively unconstitutional**, thereby negating Appellant's entire argument.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondents concur with Appellants that the standard of review is whether or not the lower court abused its discretion in granting a Temporary Injunction: *Hook Point, LLC v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.*, 397 S.C. 507, 725 S.E.2d 681 (2012):

The grant of an injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Strategic Resources Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Peek v. Spartanburg Reg’l Healthcare Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App.2005).

Id., at 511, 725 S.E.2d at 683.

II. THE INJUNCTION WAS PROPERLY GRANTED

a. The Nature of the Action

Respondents also concur that an action for injunctive relief is a proceeding in equity: *Buffington v. T.O.E. Enterprises*, 680 S.E.2d 289, 383 S.C. 388 (S.C., 2009). *See also, Strategic Resources v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689; 367 S.C. 540 (S.C., 2006).

However, it is vital to note that the jurisdiction of the Court of Common Pleas was invoked, in part, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983.⁵ Pursuant to *Howlett v. Rose*, 496 U.S. 356, 110 S.Ct. 2430 (1990), the Court of Common Pleas has concurrent jurisdiction with the United States District Court over Respondents’ Federal civil rights issues. The Court of Common Pleas acknowledged this basis for its jurisdiction (July 17, 2017 Order at 1), and based its July 17, 2017, Order in large part on the Federal cases cited by Respondents in their Memorandum of Law in support of the Motion for Temporary Injunction, (*see* July 17, 2017 Order at 3, 4, Respondents’ Memorandum of Law). It should be noted that Appellants’ Initial Brief makes absolutely no reference to the Federal law cited by Respondents in their Memorandum of Law or cited by the Court of Common Pleas. This omission should be seen as fatal to the County’s appeal.

⁵ Because of the pendency of quasi-criminal charges (Complaint Exhibit H), Respondents anticipated that bringing their complaint in the United States District Court would lead to that Court abstaining from adjudicating the complaint. Accordingly, Respondents brought their Federal civil rights claims to the Court of Common Pleas.

b. Standards for Injunctive Relief

The three prongs for injunctive relief are set out in *Rawlinson Road Homeowners v. Jackson*, 395 S.C. 25, 716 S.E.2d 337 (S.C. App. 2011):

A party seeking injunctive relief “must demonstrate irreparable harm, a likelihood of success on the merits, and the absence of an adequate remedy at law. An injunction is a drastic remedy issued by the court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff.” *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140–41, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

Id., at 35.

More recently, the South Carolina Supreme Court held:

... An applicant for a preliminary injunction must allege sufficient facts to state a cause of action for injunction and demonstrate that this relief is reasonably necessary to preserve the rights of the parties during the litigation. *Cnty. of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 669, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App.2002). One of the elements the applicant must establish is that he has a likelihood of success on the merits. *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004); see *Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp. v. Porter*, 252 S.C. 478, 481, 167 S.E.2d 313, 315 (1969) (“It is well settled that, in determining whether a temporary injunction should issue, the merits of the case are not to be considered, except in so far as they may enable the court to determine whether a *prima facie* showing has been made. When a *prima facie* showing has been made entitling plaintiff to injunctive relief, a temporary injunction will be granted without regard to the ultimate termination of the case on the merits.”). A temporary injunction is granted without prejudice to the rights of either party pending a hearing on the merits, and “when other issues are brought to trial, they are determined without reference to the temporary injunction.” *Helsel v. City of N. Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 32, 413 S.E.2d 824, 826 (1992) (citing *Alston v. Limehouse*, 60 S.C. 559, 569, 39 S.E. 188, 191 (1901) (stating “no fact decided upon such motion [for a temporary injunction] is concluded thereby, and when the other issues are brought to trial they are to be determined without reference to said orders”)). The purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the status quo and prevent irreparable harm to the party requesting it. *Powell v. Immanuel Baptist Church*, 261 S.C. 219, 221, 199 S.E.2d 60, 61 (1973).

Allegro v. Scully, 409 S.C. 392, 762 S.E.2d 54 (S.C. 2014).

As the Court of Common Pleas found, Respondents met each prong of the test for

injunctive relief: irreparable harm, a likelihood of success on the merits and no adequate remedy at law. Based on the articulation of the facts necessary to support these findings, there can be no argument that the Court of Common Pleas abused its discretion in granting the Temporary Injunction. Thus, the decision of the Court of Common Pleas should be affirmed.

c. Irreparable Injury Is Presumed

While Appellants, (Initial Brief at 13, 14, 15, 17, citing *inter alia*, to *Harkins, supra*), may be correct that even laws in derogation of First Amendment freedoms are presumed to be constitutional under South Carolina law, they are presumptively **unconstitutional** under **federal law**:

...[T]he presumption of validity that traditionally attends a local government's exercise of its zoning powers carries little, if any, weight where the zoning regulation trenches on rights of expression protected under the first Amendment. In order for a reviewing court to determine whether a zoning restriction that impinges on free speech is “narrowly drawn [to] further a sufficiently substantial governmental interest,” *ante*, at 68, the zoning authority must be prepared to articulate, and support, a reasoned and significant basis for its decision. This burden is by no means insurmountable, but neither should it be viewed as *de minimis*. ...

However, it is not enough for a local government to simply articulate an interest in preventing neighborhood blight' it must be prepared both 'to articulate and support,' a reasoned and significant basis for its zoning decisions.

Schad v. Borough of Mt. Ephraim, 452 U.S. 67, 101 S.Ct. 2176 (1981) (Blackmun, concurring) [Emphasis added].

Schad has been followed:

... Regardless of the weight the trial court chose to afford to Adultworld's evidence of lack of relocation sites, where a plaintiff makes a *prima facie* showing of infringement of First Amendment rights, the presumption of validity of a zoning ordinance disappears.

Adultworld Bookstore v. City of Fresno, 758 F.2d 1348 (9th Cir. 1985)

... However, “the presumption of validity that traditionally attends a local government’s exercise of its zoning powers carries little, if any, weight where the zoning regulation trenches on rights of expression protected under the First Amendment. ...

Messiah Baptist Church v. County of Jefferson, 859 F.2d 820 (10th Cir. 1988)

See, also, National Association for the Advancement of Colored People v. City of Philadelphia, 834 F.3d 435 (3rd Cir., 2016); *Ben Rich Trading, Inc. v. City of Vineland*, 126 F.3d 155 (3d Cir. 1997); and *City of Watseka v. Illinois Public Action Council*, 796 F.2d 1547 (7th Cir. 1986)

Likewise, under Federal law, the loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal periods of time, as a matter of law, constitutes irreparable harm: *Elrod v. Burns*, 427 U.S. 347, 373, 96 S.Ct. 2673, (1976). Consistent with *Elrod*, the Fourth Circuit has held:

Indeed, the Supreme Court has stated in no uncertain terms that “loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal periods of time, unquestionably constitutes irreparable injury.” *Elrod v. Burns*, 427 U.S. 347, 373 (1976) (plurality opinion); see also *Johnson v. Bergland*, 586 F.2d 993, 995 (4th Cir. 1978) (“Violations of first amendment rights constitute per se irreparable injury.”). ...

International Refugee Assistance Project v. Trump, 857 F.3d 554, 602 (4th Cir. May 25, 2017, *en banc*), vacated as moot, 138 S.Ct. 353 (2017).

More importantly, the mere showing of a deprivation of First Amendment or other federally protected rights in and of itself establishes both injury and damage. *Basista v. Weir*, 340 F.2d 74 (3d Cir. 1965).

Sambo’s of Ohio v. City Council of City of Toledo, 466 F.Supp. 177 (N.D. Oh., 1979).

Further demonstrating the irreparable harm caused by Appellants’ actions are the following cases:

Deprivations of constitutional rights are usually held to constitute irreparable injury as a matter of law. *American Fed. of Gov. Employees, Loc. 1858 v. Callaway*, [398 F.Supp. 176 (N.D. Al. 1975)]; *Sampson v. Murray*, 415 U.S. 61, 94 S.Ct. 937, 39 L.Ed.2d 166 (1974).

International Association of Firefighters v. City Sylacauga, 436 F.Supp. 482 (N.D. Al. 1977).

... Irreparable injury inevitably occurs where there are property or other rights which are violated and for which there is no remedy other than injunctive relief. ...

National Association of Radiation Survivors v. Walters, 589 F.Supp. 1302 (N.D. Ca. 1984); reversed on other grounds, 473 U.S. 305, 105 S.Ct. 3180 (1985).

... irreparable injury is assumed to flow from a constitutional violation and plaintiffs are not required to show harm beyond that violation. 11 Wright & Miller's [Federal Practice and Procedure] § 2948 at 440.

Decker v. United States Department of Labor, 473 F.Supp. 770 (E.D. Wi. 1979).

Regardless of the efforts to downplay this important element, the County cannot escape the fact that irreparable harm is presumed when the government tries to restrict speech by limiting the content of expressive activity.

d. Likelihood of Success on the Merits

The “regulations” which Greenville County is attempting to enforce against Respondents are clearly an effort to regulate the “content” of the expression, *i.e.*, the nature of the entertainment being offered. This is constitutionally impermissible: *See Consolidated Edison Co. of N. Y. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of N.Y.*, 447 U.S. 530, 536; 100 S.Ct. 2326 (1980) (“[W]hen regulation is based on the content of speech, governmental action must be scrutinized more carefully to ensure that communication has not been prohibited merely because public officials disapprove the speaker’s views” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

A restriction based on content survives only on a showing of necessity to serve a legitimate and compelling governmental interest, combined with least-restrictive narrow tailoring to serve it, *see United States v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc.*, 529 U.S. 803, 813; 120 S.Ct. 1878 (2000), since merely protecting listeners from offense at the message, the “primary effect,” is not a

legitimate interest of the government. *See also Cohen v. California*, 403 U.S. 15, 24-25; 91 S.Ct. 1780 (1971), as observed frequently, “strict scrutiny leaves few survivors.” The Greenville County regulations are destined to meet this fate.

In the instant case, the County has not commissioned or considered any studies specific to the current characteristics or impact of Respondents’ business. Respondents have shown a likelihood of success on these issues.

e. Respondents Have No Adequate Remedy at Law

It was clear to the Court of Common Pleas that Respondents had no adequate remedy at law because Appellants’ efforts to unconstitutionally regulate Respondents’ business threaten Respondents with several forms of irreparable harm. The first form of irreparable harm for which, as a matter of law, there is no adequate remedy at law, is found in the loss of Constitutional rights and freedoms as set out in the Complaint herein. These rights and freedoms include the right to free speech, the right to due process of law, the right to equal protection of the law, and right to have the orders of the Courts obeyed.

... If an injury cannot be adequately remedied at law, because damages would be either inadequate or unascertainable, the injury is generally held irreparable.

Ohio Oil Co. v. Conway, 279 U.S. 813, 49 S.Ct. 256, (1929).

There was no remedy at law for the irreparable injuries being inflicted on Respondents by Appellants’ actions. The complaint herein shows that Greenville County’s actions unlawfully and unconstitutionally deprived Respondents of their First Amendment rights without due process of law and unlawfully and unconstitutionally impair a wide variety of other Constitutional rights. Thus, Greenville County’s actions represented the loss of Constitutional freedoms which, even for a minimal period of time, constitutes irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at

law.

Second, the loss of income from Respondent's business is also irreparable harm which is ripe for injunctive relief and for which there is no adequate remedy at law:

... Numerous cases support the conclusion that loss of customers, loss of goodwill, and threats to a business' viability can constitute irreparable harm. See *Tri State Generation [v. Shoshone River Power, Inc.]*, 805 F.2d 351 (10th Cir. 1986); *Roso-lino Beverage Distributors, Inc. v. Coca Cola Bottling Co.*, 749 F.2d 124, 125-26 (2d Cir. 1984); *Otero Savings & Loan Ass'n v. Federal Reserve Bank*, 665 F.2d 275, 278 (10th Cir. 1981); *Federal Leasing, Inc., v. Underwriters at Lloyd's*, 650 F.2d 495, 500 (4th Cir. 1981); *Valdez v. Applegate*, 616 F.2d 570, 572 (10th Cir. 1980); *John B. Hull, Inc. v. Waterbury Petroleum Products, Inc.*, 588 F.2d 24, 28-29 (2d Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 960, 99 S.Ct. 1502, 59 L.Ed.2d 773 (1979); *Semmes Motors, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 429 F.2d 1197, 1205 (2d Cir. 1970); *Associated Producers Co. v. City of Independence*, 648 F.Supp. 1255, 1258 (W.D. Mo. 1986); *Stanley Fizer Associates, Inc. v. Sport-Billy Productions Rolf Deyhle*, 608 F.Supp. 1033, 1035 (S.D. N.Y. 1985); *Great Salt Lake Minerals & Chemicals Corp. v. Marsh*, 596 F.Supp. 548, 557 (D.Utah 1984).

Zurn Constructors, Inc. v. B.F. Goodrich Company, 685 F.Supp. 1172 (D.Kan. 1988).

The Fourth Circuit elaborated on the issue of an inadequate remedy at law discussed in *Federal Leasing, Inc., v. Underwriters at Lloyd's*, 650 F.2d 495, 500 (4th Cir. 1981), in an opinion directly applicable and relevant to the instant case:

The district court found that RPM would be more harmed by the absence of an injunction than would MCAR if an injunction were issued. This finding is not erroneous, given evidence that RPM is likely to suffer economic injury severe enough to put it out of business if MCAR is allowed to provide photographic information to the customers RPM now services. While purely economic injury does not constitute irreparable harm sufficient to warrant injunctive relief, we have held that the right to continue a business is not measurable solely in economic terms. See *Federal Leasing, Inc. v. Underwriters at Lloyd's*, 650 F.2d 495, 500 (4th Cir. 1981); *Blackwelder, [Furniture Co. v. Seilig Mfg. Co.]*, 550 F.2d at 189, 196 (4th Cir. 1977).

Montgomery County Assoc. of Realtors v. Realty Photo Master, 993 F.2d 1538, (4th Cir. 1993).

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